### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

**Docket No.: 22-822** SCA EFiled: Feb 15 2023

11:50PM EST

**Transaction ID 69161570** 

STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA,

(An appeal of the final judgment of

the Circuit Court of Marion **County, Case No.: 21-F-132)** 

Respondent,

**DAVID LEWIS,** Petitioner.

v.

# **PETITIONER'S BRIEF**

Counsel for the Petitioner, David Lewis

Jeremy B. Cooper WV State Bar ID 12319 Blackwater Law PLLC 6 Loop St. #1 Aspinwall, PA 15215 Tel: (304) 376-0037 Fax: (681) 245-6308

jeremy@blackwaterlawpllc.com

### **

### ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The Circuit Court erred by repeatedly overruling the objections of the Petitioner to irrelevant testimony concerning the decedent's character by State's witnesses.
- 2. Plain error is evident from the record in the form of the repeated, varied, blatant, and prejudicial prosecutorial misconduct of the Prosecuting Attorney during both opening and closing argument, as well as by his deliberately soliciting irrelevant and prejudicial testimony from witnesses.
- 3. The Circuit Court erred by ruling the Petitioner's second statement admissible after he previously invoked his right to remain silent during an earlier custodial interview half an hour before the second one.
- **4.** The Circuit Court erred cumulatively to the Petitioner's prejudice.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Defendant was indicted for First Degree Murder and Use of Firearm in the Commission of a Felony by the Marion County Grand Jury in June of 2021. (A.R., at 10-11). Prior to trial, the Circuit Court held a hearing on several pretrial motions on various evidentiary issues, including, germane to this appeal, his statements to law enforcement. (A.R., at 19-22). The suppression hearing was held on July 5, 2022. The witnesses were Ptlm. Samuel Murphy, Det. Reed Moran, and Det. Moses Perry of the Fairmont Police Department. (A.R., at 217, 225, 230). Ptlm. Murphy testified to responding to a report of shots fired, not by going to scene, nor to the hospital where the decedent was taken, but by searching for the Petitioner in Fairmont. (A.R., at 218-219). He testified to locating and identifying the Petitioner at Sheetz. (A.R., at 220). He placed the Petitioner in handcuffs. (A.R., at 220-221). The Petitioner was given an oral *Miranda*<sup>1</sup> warning, and the resulting interrogation was recorded on body cam. (A.R., at

<sup>1</sup> Miranda v. State of Arizona, 384 U.S. 436 (1966).

221). The Petitioner asked if he had the right to remain silent. (A.R., at 221). Officers continued to question him after has asked if he had the right to remain silent. (A.R., at 221).

Det. Moran was asked about the Petitioner's invocation of his *Miranda* rights:

- Q. Did he ask any point in time to cease the exchange until he had an opportunity to discuss things with any lawyer?
- A. Yes, he did enact his right to remain silent. I believe his exact wording, we were talking to him and he said "I have the right to remain silent." I said, "Yes, you do." And that was the end of any field questioning.
- Q. Okay. So he invoked his right to remain silent. Did he ask for a lawyer at any time?
- A. No, he did not ask for an attorney in the field.
- Q. And once he was transported to the Fairmont Police Department, did you participate in any other interviews of Mr. Lewis?
- A. I did not, no.

(A.R., at 228).

Detective Moran also testified about the content of the interview:

- Q. Okay. Specifically, do you recall what he said in regard to questioning post-Miranda at that time?
- A. Most of it was a denial of the incident. I couldn't dig up his exact words. I mostly asked him about where the gun was, and he said things along the lines of, you know, "What gun?"
- Q. Anything else?
- A. Not that I recall off the top of my head.

(A.R., at 229-230).

Unlike the previous two witnesses, Det. Moses interviewed the Petitioner at the police station rather than outside Sheetz the night of the incident. He testified that he initiated

questioning of the Petitioner approximately thirty minutes<sup>2</sup> after he was arrested at Sheetz, and that he was not told anything by Det. Moran about the Petitioner's previous invocation of his right to silence:

Q. Detective, to the best of your knowledge, how long was it between when he was arrested at Sheetz and when he's in your interview room?

A. I can't recall. I want to say maybe 30 minutes.

Q. Okay. Were you made aware by Detective Moran that he had invoked his right to remain silent at the scene where he was arrested at Sheetz?

A. I don't believe Detective Moran told me anything about that.

(A.R., at 236).

After Det. Moran re-initiated questioning, the Petitioner signed a written *Miranda* waiver (A.R., at 73) and gave a recorded statement to law enforcement, answering a number of questions prior to subsequently ending the questioning. (A.R., at 231-235). At the beginning of trial, shortly after jury selection, the Circuit Court ruled as follows concerning the statements to law enforcement:

On June 22nd the state filed a motion to determine the admissibility of evidence with respect to a few matters, some of which were agreed. We had a hearing on July 5, 2022. There's some certain issues outstanding. Number one, with respect to the state's motion to determine the admissibility of the defendant statements to police, both at the Sheetz and at the police station, following his arrest and detention. I heard evidence on that date, July 5th. I asked the defendant -- the attorneys, that if they wished to file a motion or to file a brief in support of their position. On I believe it was July 8 Mr. Shough filed the defendant's motion to suppress statements, which I reviewed. I was hoping I would get a memorandum of law, but I understand your position. I'm satisfied

<sup>2</sup> The timestamp on the body cam footage at the beginning of the first interview reads "12/16/2020 03:09:18." The timestamp on the video of the second interview reads "12-16-2020 Wed 03:14:42" when the officer states the time as being "oh two fourteen hours." The cause of this discrepancy is uncertain, but the record appears to reflect that the Petitioner was transported directly from Sheetz to his interrogation at the Fairmont Police Department.

with that. And even through I'm without a law clerk for the next serval weeks I was able to resolve that issue, at least in my own brain.

So with respect to the interview conversation with the defendant which was recorded at the Sheetz, I'm going to rule that when the defendant -- at the point in that statement where he said he wished to remain silent, I'm not exactly sure how he said it, he invoked his right to silence. Anything subsequent to that will be excluded. So the conversation with the defendant up to the point where he says he invokes his right to remain silent, anything after that will be excluded. With respect to the statements at the police station, I'm of the opinion that -- well, the first thing that happened when he was taken to the station he was advised of his Miranda rights. He signed and initialed the Miranda rights. Signed a waiver. So I'm of the opinion that he changed his mind and he waived his right to remain silent at the police station. And so that statement at the police station will be admissible over the defendant's objections, and I suppose over the state's objections with respect to the termination of the interview upon his stating that he wanted to remain silent.

I would note that neither in the statement at Sheetz nor in the statement at the police station did he invoke his right to counsel or say he wanted an attorney. So that would, in my opinion, permit them to follow up at the police station at which time he changed his position, waived his right, and that statement is admissible. Okay, so that's with respect to the statements. So the defendant's motion to suppress the statements is overruled to the extent as stated on the record here today.

(A.R., at 300-301). At trial, the video recording of both statements, (presumably subject to the limitation on the Sheetz Parking Lot video), were admitted and published to the jury. (A.R., at 455, 531).

During the opening arguments, the State spoke more about the good character of the decedent than about the details of the case, including the following excerpt, in which the decedent is referred to as a "significant contributor to our community," "a terrific young man," a (figurative) "big brother," "mature already beyond his years," a "fast friend[]", "hardworking," and as an uncommonly good father:

This case arose on December 15, 2020, when David Lewis, who's seated here at defense table, if you can all take a look, looked

quite different on December 15, 2020, but he's the right guy. And I don't want to talk a lot about him, because on that date he committed and awful, awful heinous crime. Used a firearm to kill another 20-year-old man. So I don't want to talk a lot about David. I want to talk a lot about the evil, malicious act that he committed that took this valuable life, the significant contributor to our community. This case isn't really about David. It's about what he did. And more important it should be, and I hope by the end you agree, that it should be about Dylan Harr. You'll hear from a number of witnesses who to a person will say that Dylan was a terrific young man. Dylan was 20 years old, but mature already beyond his years. He was a big brother to [G.S.], to [E.M. (another minor)]. Rapidly becoming fast friends. He was like a brother to Russell Scritchfield, who was one of the two leaseholders at the apartment on Bryant Street that we'll talk a lot about. Had become a very good friend of Russell's roommate, McKenzie McCullough, and her younger brother, who was also living at the apartment. They had a close-knit relationship in this house.

Dylan was a hardworking young man, making and delivering pizzas for Papa John. At 20 years old, doing so enough that he's supporting his young son, [decedent's child], who was just barely a year of age back in December of 2020. And I'll tell you something about the character the evidence will show of Dylan. Dylan had successfully fought and won joint custody of his young son, [decedent's child], which is unheard of for a 20-year-old male. Hard, hard to get joint, complete 50/50 custody as a father. Because you're out busy hustling and making a living and hopefully contributing to the lives of your children. But that's exactly what he did. And the folks that lived at Bryant Street had seen him, saw a whole lot more of Dyan on the weeks when he didn't have his son. But several of them worked together. He had actually help McKenzie, he and Russell, get her job at Papa John's. So these young 20-year-old kids scraping by an existence and living on their own at 20 making and delivering pizzas is to be commended. I remember those days of working hard and scratching out an existence and trying to go to school right beside where this apartment was.

It all came to a screeching halt on December 15, 2020. [The decedent's child]'s not going to know his dad. He'll never remember his daddy. He was just barely a year old when Mr. Lewis just snatched the life out of Dylan Harr by using a firearm to shoot him right in the chest.

(A.R., at 334-337).

The Petitioner's trial counsel did not object to this argument. However, it did object,

unsuccessfully, (and on other occasions, fail to object) to the numerous instances of the State eliciting similar testimony from its witnesses. During G.S.'s<sup>3</sup> testimony, mere minutes into the presentation of evidence, the following exchange took place:

- Q. Did you know Dylan Harr?
- A. Yes, sir, very well.
- Q. How did you know Dylan?
- A. I met him through a buddy.
- Q. And unfortunately Dylan's no longer with us; is that correct?
- A. Yes, sir.
- Q. Did he pass away in December 2020?
- A. Yes, sir.
- Q. How long before he passed had you been good friends?
- A. Probably two years.
- Q. Did you come to view Dylan as kind of your big brother?
- A. Yeah.
- Q. What sorts of brotherly and friend things did he do with you?
- A. Everything. Dylan was always with us. Like, he would text me, come to my house, pick me up. We would just go do things all the time.
- Q. So he visited you at your house?
- A. Yes, sir.
- Q. Did you go with him to his house?
- A. Yes, sir.
- Q. Did he take you other places that he may have hung out with

<sup>3</sup> G.S. is a minor who testified on behalf of the State.

other friends and include you?

A. Yes, sir. Vise versa.

Q. What if you couldn't physically get together, did you talk often on the phone?

A. Not too much. We really hung out a lot, honestly. Like, Dylan was almost around every day.

Q. So you saw him virtually every day?

A. Pretty much, yeah.

Q. What in particular did you like about him?

A. He was a jokester. He liked to joke. And he'd always make sure you were okay.

Q. So was he thoughtful of your feelings?

A. Everybody's.

Q. What happened if you were friends for two or three years before 2020 when he passed, I bet you got to know [decedent's child]?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Did you see any change take place with Dylan?

MR. ROGERS: Objection, Your Honor. Relevancy.

THE COURT: Overruled.

Q. Did you see any difference take place with Dylan when he became a dad?

A. Well, I mean, he always took care of his kid. He was never -- if his kid was around, he included us to go play. Like, if he wanted to hang out with us, we would go to the park and play with his kid. Like, hang out with him and his kid.

Q. So you did kid things when he had [decedent's child] in his custody?

A. Yes, sir.

(A.R., at 347-349).

During McKenzie McCollough's testimony, a similar line of questioning took place:

- A. I met Dylan -- I met Dylan through Russell at a get together with a group of friends. And Russell had brought Dylan with him. So that's the first time I had ever met him.
- Q. And when during that time frame of when you were becoming friends with Russell did that take place?
- A. Shortly after they got us sent home from Covid from Teleperformance is when I met him.
- Q. He also assist you in getting on at Papa John's?
- A. He did.
- Q. What were your initial thoughts of Dylan?
- A. He was goofy. Very funny. Loving. Helped anyone he possibly could. Just a genuine soul.
- Q. Were he and Russell particularly close friends?
- A. Yes.
- Q. As a result of pretty quickly becoming Russell's roommate, did you get to know his very close friend Dylan well yourself?
- A. Yes.
- Q. Happen pretty rapidly?
- A. Yeah, it did.
- Q. I know it's hard. But she's going to write down or take down everything everybody says, so you have to be able to answer out loud. And when you're having a hard time we'll wait. Okay? I know this is difficult. Anything during that rapid initial period of getting to know Dylan change your mind about him?
- A. Never. We had our ups and downs like any family would. That's what I refer him as, my family. We always made it through our rough patches. You know, family always has their fights. They come back to each other.

Q. So almost like another brother?

A. Yeah.

Q. Speaking back to brothers, we'll talk about some of the funny stuff. Shortly after becoming roommates with Russell, did you kind of become roommates again with your little brother?

A. I did, yes.

MR. SHOUGH: Objection as to relevance, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Overruled.

He had an altercation with our mother. Needed a place to live, so I let him come stay with me.

Q. So kind of big sis came to his rescue?

A. Yes.

Q. That dispute and him coming to reside with you, is that basically over his best friend, Beon, basically living at your mom's house?

A. Yes.

Q. And did he bring Beon to big sis's house?

A. He did.

Q. Tell the jury how you described that to me. What did the apartment become like?

A. It was like a frat house is the best way I can explain it. Like, there was always love in our house. We tried to help anyone that needed it. Give them a place where they felt safe.

Q. You kind of sort of the only female there most of the time?

A. Yes.

Q. I feel for you. I really do.

MR. SHOUGH: Your Honor, may we approach?

THE COURT: If you have an objection, state it on the record.

MR. SHOUGH: Your Honor, this case is about a murder. And the issues that the witnesses needs to be testifying to as the issues are relevant to what happened to cause that murder. We've had a lot of testimony about how people felt about other people. I understand in establishing a background, but it's the defense position at a certain point that should stop.

THE COURT: Okay. Mr. Freeman?

MR. FREEMAN: Your Honor, I think it's only appropriate to set the stage for the jury about who lived in this household and why, and why they were all there on December 15, 2020.

THE COURT: For the reason expressed by Mr. Freeman, the defense objection is overruled.

(A.R., at 394-396).

During Russell Scritchfield's testimony, another similar exchange occurred:

Q. Let's take a step away from the apartment for a bit and talk about Dylan. Did you know Dylan Harr?

A. Yes. Yes, I did.

Q. I know how you know Dylan, but these folks don't. So can you tell the jury how it is that you became aware of Dylan?

A. I became aware of Dylan when --

MR. SHOUGH: Objection. Relevance.

THE COURT: Overruled.

Q. How did you know Dylan?

A. I knew Dylan from working and starting at Papa John's on Fairmont Avenue.

Q. He also worked with you and McKenzie at Papa John's?

A. Correct.

Q. How long did you work with Dylan?

A. I worked with him from the second week of August – October

to the December 4, 2019.

Q. Become fast friends?

A. Yes.

Q. What did you think of it?

A. That he was a pretty cool dude and he was chill and wouldn't hurt a fly unless he absolutely had to.

Q. Enjoy working with him at the workplace?

A. Yes. He was funny.

(A.R., at 596).

A second similar exchange occurred later in his testimony:

Q. Were you still at the hospital when you found out from the medical personnel that Dylan had died?

A. Yes.

Q. Hard set of events for you, is it not?

A. Yes.

Q. Were you and Dylan close friends?

A. Yes.

Q. How did you view your relationship with him?

MR. SHOUGH: Objection. Relevance.

THE COURT: Overruled. Let's make it brief, Mr. Freeman.

MR. FREEMAN: Yes, Your Honor.

A. I would say he was a brother from another mother. We were tight as could be, to the point to where he literally told me I could call his mom "mom." And he had also made me the godfather of his child.

Q. You knew his son?

A. Yes.

Q. [Decedent's child]?

A. Yeah.

MR. FREEMAN: No other questions at this point for this witness. Pass the witness.

(A.R., at 612-613).

During closing arguments, the Prosecuting Attorney said the following:

These are difficult things to hear about. They're certainly not made any easier by the fact that we're talking abut a young 20-year-old father of a then one-year-old child who's gone, whose son, [decedent's child], will never know him. Made even more devastating by the fact that we have young adults, even two juveniles, coming here and describing what has to be the worst day of their life and that their 16 to maybe 20 years of life had clearly not prepared them for. You got to see the very real struggle with the emotions that they had to deal with on December 15 and 16, 2020, as well as coming in here and relating it to you. The anguish is real. I think you got to see a bit of that raw emotion and the devastating impact of losing their good friend.

(A.R., at 683-684).

But this case is more about Dylan, and Dylan Harr. And I want to remember him much more than I want to give undue attention to David Lewis, who committed this wicked and evil act a year and a half, almost two years ago now. From every single witness for all intents and purposes, Dylan was a terrific young man. They all, every last one of them, [G.S.], McKenzie, Caleb, Russell, [E.M.] here this morning, spoke glowingly of Dylan Harr. He was a good friend. They loved him.

And what's important to note is that those like [G.S.] who knew him for a long time loved him like a brother. That was my big brother. And that those that knew him just a little bit, maybe like McKenzie, even Russell didn't know him that long, and they'd come to think of him as a brother. And those who only knew him a brief period, like [E.M.] and Caleb, through the world of him as well. He had an instant and immediate impact on those that he met, those that he associated with and had regular contact with.

(A.R., at 684-685).

But they [defense counsel] do have, they have a role that they're duly and legally bound to perform. They must be David Lewis's advocates. They have to zealously represent him. And they've done so, and they've done so skillfully. They questioned witnesses skillfully. But their role is very, very different from that of a prosecutor. I don't have a client. I have the duty and obligation of pursuing at all costs the truth. My client or clients are the people of Marion County, each one of you. It's not one individual officer. I don't represent Dylan Harr or his family. I'm representing each one of you and all of our friends and all of our neighbors and all of our associates, coworkers, everyone. For one purpose, the find truth and justice in this courtroom. So that role is very different. I'm not advocating for a single individual. I take that very seriously.

(A.R., at 691).

These young people fought through a devastating event and the traumatic memories of that, and the raw, visceral emotions to get those truthful facts to you. Don't let them down, please. I wanted this case from the very beginning to be about Dylan. Don't let him down.

The judge includes in those instructions that we make a lot of things difficult and complicated in the justice system, but it comes down to that common sense and your good judgment as good citizens of Marion County, West Virginia, which are the best anywhere in the world. I've lived here my whole life. That's why I love this job so much, because I get to represent you, the people that I know and love. And I trust you to do the right thing.

(A.R., at 695).

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