IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

Docket No. 22-822

SCA EFiled: Apr 03 2023 05:08PM EDT Transaction ID 69721716

STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA,

Respondent,

v.

DAVID HUNTER LEWIS,

Petitioner.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

Appeal from the October 11, 2022 Order Circuit Court of Marion County Case No. 21-F-132

> PATRICK MORRISEY ATTORNEY GENERAL

MARY BETH NIDAY ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL 1900 Kanawha Blvd. E. State Capitol, Bldg. 6, Ste. 406 Charleston, WV 25305 Telephone: (304) 558-5830 Facsimile: (304) 558-5833

State Bar No. 9092

Email: Mary.B.Niday@wvago.gov

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

IV. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Each of Petitioner's assignments of error are without merit. First, Petitioner has failed to demonstrate that the testimonial evidence as to the victim's character was improperly admitted by the trial court. Petitioner initially challenges only two instances of testimonial evidence to which he objected at trial. This evidence was limited in scope and the prosecutor did not dwell upon it during direct examination. Pursuant to the holding in *State v. Wade*, 200 W.Va. 637, 400 S.E.2d 724 (1997), any error in eliciting testimony about the victim's son was harmless. The State presented eyewitness testimony that Petitioner shot and killed Dylan and further presented evidence of Petitioner's flight that was probative of his guilt. Moreover, Petitioner presented a defense of accident at trial, thereby conceding that he shot Dylan. This evidence demonstrates that

the jury would have reached the same verdict of Second Degree Murder in the absence of the character evidence.

Petitioner's challenges to the prosecutor's opening statements and closing arguments should not be reviewed by this Court because Petitioner failed to assert a contemporaneous objection at trial. *See* Syl. Pt. 3, *State v. Robert Scott R., Jr.*, 233 W.Va. 12, 20, 754 S.E.2d 588, 596 (2014). Notwithstanding Petitioner's waiver of this claim, his contention is without merit because the complained-of instances of when the prosecutor mentioned the victim's character were minimal and did not prejudice Petitioner. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in admitting the testimonial evidence or the prosecutor's statements.

Second, Petitioner has failed to demonstrate that any of the prosecutor's comments or his solicitation of witness testimony constituted prosecutorial misconduct. Neither the testimonial evidence nor the comments significantly prejudiced Petitioner. Moreover, the weight of the evidence, in the absence of such comments, was strong and consisted primarily of competent eyewitness testimony and evidence of Petitioner's flight, combined with Petitioner's defense that he did not shoot the victim. Petitioner's claim of prosecutorial misconduct is without merit.

Third, law enforcement properly advised Petitioner of his *Miranda* warnings prior to taking statements from him at the scene of his arrest and at the police department. The 30-minute interval between statements consisted primarily of Petitioner's transport to the police department and not of any law enforcement acts designed to wear down Petitioner's resistance. Petitioner competently waived his *Miranda* warnings and his statement was properly admitted.

Finally, Petitioner has failed to demonstrate that any error prejudiced him resulting in an unfair trial. His claim of cumulative error, therefore, is without merit. Petitioner's conviction and sentence should be affirmed.

V. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

Respondent disagrees with Petitioner that oral argument is necessary and asserts that this case is suitable for disposition by memorandum decision because the record is fully developed and the arguments of both parties are adequately presented in the briefs. W.Va. R. App. P. 18(a)(3) and (4).

VI. ARGUMENT

- A. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in admitting testimony evidence related to the victim or allowing the prosecutor's statements regarding the victim's son. To the extent that the testimony and statements are construed as error, such error is harmless as the jury would have reached the same verdict in the absence of such evidence and statements.
 - 1. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in admitting testimony related to the victim.

It is well-established in this Court that "[a] trial court's evidentiary rulings, as well as its application of the Rules of Evidence, are subject to review under an abuse of discretion standard." *State v. Combs*, 247 W.Va. 1, 875 S.E.2d 139, 145 (2022) (citing Syl. Pt. 4, *State v. Rodoussakis*, 204 W.Va. 58, 511 S.E.2d 469 (1998)). The "legal analysis underlying a trial court's decision" is reviewed *de novo. State v. Guthrie*, 194 W.Va. 657, 680, 461 S.E.2d 163, 186 (1995).

Petitioner argues that the trial court's admission of the victim's character evidence was irrelevant, prejudicial, and intended to inflame the jury. (Pet'r Br. 17–22.) In support of his argument, Petitioner, relies on *State v. Wade* for the proposition that evidence of a victim's family members, if not relevant to any issue in the case, is inadmissible "for the sole purpose of gaining sympathy from the jury." 200 W.Va. 637, 400 S.E.2d 724 (1997).

In *Wade*, the State admitted testimony "that the victim had a twelve-year-old son, a fact which bore absolutely no relation to the issues involved in th[e] case." *Id.* at 652, 400 S.E.2d at 739. The Court found that because the evidence was "not relevant to any fact of consequence to

this case," the evidence was admitted in error. *Id.* "Evidence that a homicide victim was survived by a spouse or children is generally considered inadmissible in a homicide prosecution where it is irrelevant to any issue in the case and is presented for the sole purpose of gaining sympathy from the jury." Syl. Pt. 10, *Wade* (quoting Syl. pt. 5, in part, *State v. Wheeler*, 187 W.Va. 379, 419 S.E.2d 447 (1992)).

Despite the State's improper references to the victim's twelve-year-old son, the *Wade* Court applied a harmless error analysis: "A judgment will not be reversed because of the admission of improper or irrelevant evidence when it is clear that the verdict of the jury could not have been affected thereby." 200 W.Va. at 652, 400 S.E.2d at 739 (citations omitted); *see also Wheeler*, 187 W.Va. at 389, 419 S.E.2d at 457 (discussing standards for relevance and prejudice).

The *Wade* Court acknowledged that the State elicited the improper testimony but "did not dwell on that testimony" and the witness simply stated the victim had a child. *Wade*, 200 W.Va. at 652, 400 S.E.2d at 739. Finding that substantial evidence of eyewitness testimony was presented at trial, the Court concluded the jury would have reached the same verdict in the absence of the testimony and, therefore, any error was harmless. *Id.* "Harmless error analysis in the appeal of a criminal case asks 'not whether, in a trial that occurred without the error, a guilty verdict would surely have been rendered, but whether the guilty verdict actually rendered . . . was surely unattributable to the error.' *Sullivan v. Louisiana*, 508 U.S. 275, 279, 113 S.Ct. 2078, 2081, 124 L.Ed.2d 182, 189 (1993)." *State v. Marple*, 197 W.Va. 47, 53, 475 S.E.2d 47, 53 (1996); *see also People v. Martinez*, 734 P.2d 650, 652 (Colo. App. 1986) (finding error in permitting references to murder victim's pregnancy was harmless where the "references . . . were brief, [] no attempt was made by the prosecution to emphasize this evidence," "there was overwhelming evidence" of "defendant's guilt," and "the jury found that defendant was guilty of second degree murder, not of

first degree murder, the original charge") (emphasis added); Eckels v. State, 153 Tex. Crim. 402, 220 S.W.2d 175 (1949) (finding no reversible error where challenged testimony about homicide victim having children went unchallenged elsewhere in the proceedings).

In the instant case, Petitioner contends that the trial court erred "by repeatedly overruling the objections of the Petitioner to irrelevant testimony" regarding the victim's character by the State's witnesses. (Pet'r Br. 16) (emphasis added). Despite his claim of "repeated" objections, Petitioner challenges only two objections to a small portion of testimony by two State witnesses: Gage Starr's testimony that Dylan always took care of his son and included his friends when playing with his son (App. 349) and Russell Critchfield's testimony that Dylan was "a brother from another mother" and that he was Dylan's son's godfather (App. 613). Similar to Wade, the State here did not dwell on this witness testimony regarding Dylan or Dylan's son. Indeed, Gage's statement comprised no more than four lines of a 20-page direct examination transcript. (See generally, App 346–365.) Likewise, Russell's challenged testimony was no more than four lines in a 27-page direct examination transcript. (See generally, App. 587–613.) The grand total of material subject to Petitioner's "repeated" objections, then, occupied—at the very most—eight lines in 47 pages of direct examination transcripts.

Notwithstanding the relevancy of this testimonial evidence, any such error in admitting the testimony is harmless. As in *Wade*, the State presented competent eyewitness testimony at trial from Gage Starr (App. 354–55) and Evan McElroy (App. 639). Evan testified that he watched "Dylan walk up to [Petitioner] and try to talk to him, and he put his arm around him. And then [Petitioner] turned and, like, shot him through his coat pocket." (App. 639.) Similarly, Gage testified that he saw Dylan with "his arm around [Petitioner]. And it all happened so fast. I just seen [sic] him turn and then I hear pow." (App. 355.) Moreover, the State presented evidence of

Petitioner's flight from the scene of the shooting that was probative of his guilt. (App. 476–87.) Petitioner, therefore, did not deny shooting Dylan. Rather, he maintained that the shooting was an accident. (App. 702–03.) This evidence demonstrates that the jury would have reached the same verdict of Second Degree Murder in the absence of the testimony referencing Dylan and his son. Any error committed by the State was thus harmless.

2. Petitioner has waived his right to challenge the prosecutor's opening statements due to his failure to make a contemporaneous objection to the statements at trial. Notwithstanding Petitioner's waiver, Petitioner is not entitled to relief as any error the prosecutor may have committed in discussing Dylan or Dylan's son during opening statements was harmless error.

Petitioner contends that the prosecutor willfully introduced highly prejudicial and inflammatory statements regarding Dylan and Dylan's son during opening statements and closing arguments. (Pet'r Br. 19, 23.) Petitioner, however, focuses only on the prosecutor's opening statements and does not identify any specific statements in the prosecutor's closing arguments that were made in error. This Court has long held that "[f]ailure to make timely and proper objection to remarks of counsel made in the presence of the jury, during the trial of a case, constitutes a waiver of the right to raise the question thereafter either in the trial court or in the appellate court." Syl. Pt. 3, State v. Robert Scott R., Jr., 233 W.Va. 12, 20, 754 S.E.2d 588, 596 (2014) (citation omitted); see also State v. Preston, No. 15-0210, 2015 WL 7628816, at *4 (W.Va. Supreme Court, Nov. 23, 2015) (memorandum decision) (declining to address the petitioner's claim that the prosecutor improperly referenced extrinsic evidence during closing arguments because the petitioner failed to object to the statements during trial). Petitioner argues that the State made improper comments as to the character of the victim during opening statements. (Pet'r Br. 17–22.) Petitioner, however, failed to make a contemporaneous objection to the prosecutor's statements at trial. Consequently, Petitioner has waived his right to raise the issue on direct appeal.

Even if Petitioner had properly preserved the issue for appeal, he is not entitled to the relief he requests. The State's references to Dylan and Dylan's son, as cited by Petitioner (Pet'r Br. 19–20), were limited and were not mentioned extensively throughout the opening statements. *See Wade*, 200 W.Va. at 652, 400 S.E.2d at 739. Petitioner challenges only two paragraphs of the State's opening statement, wherein the prosecutor briefly referenced Dylan's son. (App. 335–37.) These two paragraphs represented only a small portion of the State's opening statement which consisted of seven pages of the transcript, and certainly were not the last thoughts left with the jury. (App. 333–39.)

Assuming the prosecutor's statements were improper, any error in allowing the statements was harmless. As discussed above, the eyewitness testimony combined with the evidence of Petitioner's flight and his admission to the shooting but as an accident, all overwhelmingly support Petitioner's guilt. Any error committed by the State was thus harmless.

B. The prosecutor did not engage in misconduct by eliciting certain testimony and in making opening statements and closing arguments related to the victim.

Next, Petitioner maintains that the State committed prosecutorial misconduct by offering certain comments in opening statements, making other statements in closing arguments, and in eliciting testimony irrelevant and prejudicial testimony from witnesses. (Pet'r Br. 23–30.) Many of these arguments concern the same kinds of evidence and comments to which Petitioner objects in his first assignment of error.

"[A]llegations of prosecutorial misconduct are based on notions of due process." *State v. Guthrie*, 194 W.Va. 657, 677 n.25, 461 S.E.2d 163, 183 n.25 (1995). "In determining whether a statement made or evidence introduced by the prosecution represents an instance of misconduct, [this Court] first look[s] at the statement or evidence in isolation and decide[s] if it is improper." *Bowers v. Ames*, No. 20-0625, 2022 WL 123507, at *15 (W. Va. Jan. 12, 2022) (memorandum

decision) (quoting *Guthrie*, 194 W.Va. at 677 n.25, 461 S.E.2d at 183 n.25). If the statement is improper, then the Court determines whether the statement or evidence rendered the trial unfair. *Id.* In performing this evaluation, several factors are considered:

(1) The nature and seriousness of the misconduct; (2) the extent to which the statement or evidence was invited by the defense; (3) whether the statement or evidence was isolated or extensive; (4) the extent to which any prejudice was ameliorated by jury instructions; (5) the defense's opportunity to counter the prejudice; (6) whether the statement or evidence was deliberately placed before the jury to divert attention to irrelevant and improper matters; and (7) the sufficiency of the evidence supporting the conviction.

Id.; see also Syl. Pt. 6, State v. Sugg, 193 W. Va. 388, 456 S.E.2d 469 (1995) ("Four factors are taken into account in determining whether improper prosecutorial comment is so damaging as to require reversal: (1) the degree to which the prosecutor's remarks have a tendency to mislead the jury and to prejudice the accused; (2) whether the remarks were isolated or extensive; (3) absent the remarks, the strength of competent proof introduced to establish the guilt of the accused; and (4) whether the comments were deliberately placed before the jury to divert attention to extraneous matters.").

1. The prosecutor appropriately introduced evidence of the victim's character under Rule 404(a)(2)(C) to rebut Petitioner's argument that the victim was the initial aggressor.

Petitioner first contends that the State presented inadmissible and irrelevant character evidence of the victim from certain witnesses to describe the relationships between Dylan and his friends (App. 347–49, 394–96, 596, 612–13). (Pet'r Br. 23–30.) In particular, Gage, Dylan's best friend, testified that he viewed Dylan as a big brother, a jokester, and a caring person always ensuring everyone was all right. (App. 347–48.) McKenzie McCullough, another of Dylan's friends, testified that Dylan was her family and she considered him as one of her brothers. (App. 394.) Similarly, Russell, who was McKenzie's roommate and Dylan's friend, testified that Dylan was "a pretty cool dude and he was chill and wouldn't hurt a fly unless he absolutely had to."

(App. 596.) Russell further testified that Dylan "was a brother from another mother" and that they "were tight as could be, to the point to where he literally told [him] to call his mom "mom." (App. 613.)

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